### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 20-0350

### WEST VIRGINIA CONSOLIDATED PUBLIC RETIREMENT BOARD,

Petitioner

v.

2

5

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (18-AA-9)

### ROBERT CLARK, ET AL.,

Respondent.

### Brief of Petitioner, the West Virginia **Consolidated Public Retirement Board**

Counsel for Petitioner, the West Virginia **Consolidated Public Retirement Board** 

Ronda L. Harvey, Esquire (WVSB 6326) BOWLES RICE LLP Post Office Box 1386 Charleston, West Virginia 25325-1386 Phone: (304) 347-1100 E-mail: rharvey@bowlesrice.com





###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

÷

Division of Natural Resources ("DNR") law enforcement officers receive a subsistence allowance to reimburse them for telephone service, dry cleaning, uniforms, meal expenses and other expenses incurred due to the nature of their duties. At issue in this appeal is whether the Consolidated Public Retirement Board ("CPRB") properly concluded that DNR wrongly designated subsistence allowance as pensionable compensation in the Public Employees Retirement System ("PERS"), a system administered by CPRB.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents are certain active and retired law enforcement officers who are presently or formerly employed by DNR.<sup>1</sup> Respondents are also members of PERS. Like all members of PERS, Respondents and their employer, DNR, make contributions to PERS toward the members' retirement. Retirement benefits are calculated by statute based on the compensation of the individual member. Retirement contributions must meet the statutory definition of "compensation," which means "renumeration paid a member . . . for personal serves rendered by the member to the participating employer."

In addition to compensation, Respondents and other state employees sometimes receive expense reimbursement and other payments that are not for services rendered, and these types of payments are not included as compensation for purposes of calculating pension benefits. Indeed, the PERS statute expressly states that such payments are not considered compensation and expressly gives CPRB the "final power to decide whether payments shall be considered compensation" in PERS.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Notably, this is not a class action and not all active and retired DNR officers are parties in this lawsuit.

It makes sense that the Legislature did not include these types of other payments, including subsistence allowance, as pensionable<sup>2</sup> compensation. Expense reimbursements are not pensionable, and the Legislature could not have intended to distinguish between public employees who must submit receipts for expense reimbursements and those who, like DNR officers, receive a subsistence allowance instead.

ž

Even though the PERS statute does not include subsistence allowance in the PERS definition of pensionable compensation, DNR, through no consultation with CPRB, began including the amounts paid to its officers for subsistence allowance in the DNR officers' gross salary. CPRB first became aware that the DNR had decided to include subsistence allowance as part of an officer's gross salary in 2014 when CPRB was auditing the Respondent Jon Cogar's file and noticed several months of atypical salaries. (J.A. at 52, ¶ 39.) CPRB staff requested and received from the DNR a list of "special payments" from which retirement contributions were withheld. (J.A. at 52, ¶ 40; 102-114.) Notably, CPRB was not aware that the DNR had included anything other than salary when the DNR submitted its regular Retirement Deduction Reports to CPRB. Rather, the list of "special payments" made to Officer Cogar was the first notice received by CPRB of any payments other than salary included in pensionable compensation by the DNR. The list of "special payments" did not mention subsistence allowance or designate what each payment was for other than by number coding. With the list of "special payments" the DNR provided an explanation identifying the codes and designating code #135 as subsistence. (J.A. at 52, ¶41.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Pensionable" is not a term defined in statutes governing PERS or CPRB, and is used in this brief only as a shorthand reference to amounts that meet the PERS definitions of "compensation" and "final average salary" and thus are appropriately considered when calculating required contributions to or benefits from PERS.

In less than a month after receiving the list of special payments and becoming aware that DNR viewed subsistence allowance as pensionable compensation, CPRB notified DNR that subsistence allowance is not compensation within PERS. With that notification, CPRB directed DNR to stop including such amounts as compensation when calculating and making employee and employer retirement contributions. CPRB also informed Officer Cogar of the decision and his right to appeal.

1

On July 1, 2014, the Director of DNR wrote to CPRB's Executive Director explaining DNR's position on subsistence allowance. CPRB promptly responded on July 7, 2014, that it would take a comprehensive look at the issue and advised the DNR to continue with its practice in the interim. Then, in the 2015 Legislative Session, a bill was introduced which would have permitted CPRB to allow members and retirants to choose whether subsistence allowance payments made prior to July 1, 2015, were subject to PERS. The proposed legislation did not ultimately pass.

Meanwhile, CPRB completed its comprehensive review which justified its prior conclusion that subsistence allowance does not comply with the PERS definition of compensation. As a fiduciary of PERS and an administrative agency created by statute, CPRB is required to correct errors relating to the benefits of the plan. Since PERS was created in 1961, W. VA. CODE § 5-10-44 has required the correction of errors that result in any person receiving from the system more or less than he or she would have been entitled to receive. This obligation has been repeatedly recognized by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, even in cases where a member believed he or she would receive something based on erroneous statements or interpretations by CPRB or a participating employer or in cases where a member is required to repay amounts received in error. Even though in this case, the errors were through no fault of the Respondents (but rather their employer<sup>3</sup>), CPRB is bound by statute to correct the errors and enforce the statutory requirements of PERS. Thus, once CPRB concluded that the DNR erred in viewing subsistence allowance as pensionable compensation, CPRB then informed the DNR officers on October 5, 2015, that the DNR had erroneously included subsistence allowance in PERS "compensation." The DNR then ceased making employer and employee contributions to PERS based on subsistence allowance. Shortly thereafter, Respondents filed an administrative appeal. The Hearing Officer concluded that CPRB was correct and CPRB adopted the Recommended Decision of the Hearing Officer. Respondents appealed that decision to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County and the Circuit Court entered a "Final Order" on March 19, 2020, basically adopting the proposed order submitted by Respondents. The Final Order granted Respondents' appeal and overturned the decision of CPRB. CPRB is appealing that Final Order,

÷.

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is appropriate under the first 4 options in Rule 19. First, the issue involves application of settled law regarding the error correction statutes in PERS that the Circuit Court applied improperly. Second, the Circuit Court's March 19, 2020 Final Order resonates with multiple abuses of discretion where the law governing the Court's discretion is settled. Third, the Circuit Court's Final Order is a result contrary to an enormous weight of the evidence. Fourth, this appeal involves a narrow issue of law: whether the DNR's subsistence allowance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This scenario is similar to *Bland v. State of West Virginia et al*, 230 W.Va. 263, 737 S.E.2d 291 (2012), where West Virginia State Troopers believed that they should be in a different retirement plan (Plan A) based on the representations to them by the State Police during recruitment. Even though the Troopers' mistaken belief was through no fault of their own (like DNR's improper decision to include subsistence allowance in pensionable compensation), this Court upheld CPRB's decision to place the Troopers in Plan B.

should be included as pensionable compensation. The decision on that issue could impact how other State employers handle expense reimbursement.

51

#### ARGUMENT

The primary issue in this case is whether DNR's subsistence allowance should be included in "compensation" as that term is defined in PERS. This, in turn, determines whether subsistence allowance is subject to calculating DNR officers' and DNR's required employee and employer contributions to PERS, as well as whether subsistence allowance forms a part of a DNR officers' "final average salary" used to calculate monthly retirement benefits.<sup>4</sup> (J.A. at 46, ¶4.) Because subsistence allowance is an expense reimbursement and not payment "for personal services rendered," it is not included in the statutory definition of compensation.

This Court has held that "[o]n appeal of an administration order from a circuit court, this Court is bound by the statutory standards contained in W. VA. CODE § 29A-5-4(a) and reviews questions of law presented *de novo*; findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong." *Curry v. W.V. Consolidated Pub. Ret. Bd.*, 236 W. Va. 188, 788 S.E.2d 637, syl. pt. 1 (2015). West Virginia Code § 29A-5-4 allows a circuit court to reverse an administrative order only if the order is:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or
- (2) In excess of statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> W. VA. CODE §§ 5-10-29 and 5-10-31 set PERS employee and employer contributions as a percentage of the employee's "compensation." "Compensation" is defined in W. VA. CODE § 5-10-2(8). W. VA. CODE §§ 5-10-21 and 5-10-22, among others, set forth retirement annuity amounts based on the employee's "final average salary," which is in turn defined in § 5-10-2(13) as based on the employee's "compensation."

(4) Affected by other error of law; or

÷.

- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Here, the Circuit Court entered an Order on March 19, 2020, reversing the Board's decision that subsistence allowance is not compensation, but failed to cite to a specific provision in West Virginia Code § 29A-5-4. The Circuit Court's Order simply declares the Board's decision "to be erroneous and contrary to the applicable law." (J.A. at 640.) Apparently, the Circuit Court is relying on subsection (5), but the Circuit Court has applied that provision in error. "The 'clearly wrong' and the 'arbitrary and capricious' standards of review are deferential ones which presume an agency's actions are valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis." *Curry*, syl. pt. 3. As set forth below, the Board's decision that subsistence allowance is not compensation is legally sound and based on clear Legislative mandates. Thus, the Circuit Court erred in reversing that decision.

# I. Contrary to the Circuit Court's Order, CPRB made no legal error when it decided that DNR's Subsistence Allowance does not meet the PERS statutory definition of compensation.

The Legislature has defined "compensation" for calculating retirement benefits in PERS in West Virginia Code § 5-10-2(8) as: "remuneration paid a member by a participating public employer for personal services rendered."<sup>5</sup> The Legislature also clearly designated in West Virginia Code § 20-7-1 what DNR's subsistence allowance compensates, and it is not personal services rendered by the employee. Subsistence allowance reimburses DNR officers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although the definition of "compensation" has been amended over the years, it has always required, at a minimum, that payments be "remuneration for personal services rendered." See W. VA. CODE § 5-10-2(14) (1961).

"in addition to their base salary" for certain specific expenses they incur: "required telephone service, dry cleaning or required uniforms, and meal expenses while performing their regular duties in their area of primary assignment." W. VA. CODE § 20-7-1. Subsistence allowance is also used by DNR officers for additional weapons and body armor. (J.A. at 50, ¶ 26.) These are expenses associated with the unique duties of a DNR officer, who work outside of a traditional office setting. Because the subsistence allowance is an expense reimbursement, rather than a payment for personal services rendered, CPRB correctly determined that the payments were not "compensation." The Circuit Court's order ignores the statutory requirement that a payment can be compensation only if the payment is "for personal services rendered," and without considering the significance of this requirement, the Circuit Court improperly and without basis reversed CPRB's decision.

3

## A. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that subsistence allowance is the same as wages.

When the Legislature re-authorized subsistence allowance in 1996,<sup>6</sup> DNR acknowledged that the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") deemed it an expense and not an addition to salary. (*See* J.A. at 58-61.) In 1996, DNR paid the subsistence allowance to each officer in a single monthly check, separate from salary payments. (J.A. at 58-59.) However, DNR then decided on its own, through no consultation with CPRB or notice to CPRB, that it would instead include subsistence allowance in each officer's regular bimonthly paychecks and would report subsistence allowance on a Form W-2 as "all wages paid... by the [DNR]". (J.A. at 62-67.) The Circuit Court wrongly concluded that DNR's inclusion of subsistence allowance in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The 1976 version of West Virginia Code § 20-7-1 first established subsistence allowance as an expense "**in addition to salary**" (emphasis added). In 1981, the Legislature amended West Virginia Code § 20-7-1 to remove subsistence allowance, but allowed reimbursement for actual expenses. Then in 1996, the Legislature re-authorized subsistence allowance in addition to actual expenses. (J.A. at 47-48.)

the same paycheck as a DNR officer's salary renders subsistence allowance as a "wage" paid to each DNR officer. Specifically, the Circuit Court's Order holds that "the subsistence allowance is an explanation for increasing wages earned by DNR officers." (J.A. at 619, ¶ 7.) This conclusion is wrong for several reasons.

First, this conclusion ignores the statute that sets a DNR officer's salary, W. VA. CODE § 7-20-1c and salary increases awarded pursuant to W. VA. CODE § 20-7-1a. As is clearly explained in the record before the Circuit Court: "subsistence allowance is easily distinguishable from salary: while a DNR officer's 'salary' will vary based on tenure and experience, subsistence allowance payments remain constant." (J.A. at 247.) Moreover, if subsistence allowance is simply a wage increase, why did the Legislature characterize it as subsistence allowance in the statute and why does the statute specifically mention the types of expenses that subsistence allowance is designed to reimburse, i.e., telephone service, dry cleaning, meal expenses? If the Legislature wanted to include these types of expenses as wages, the Legislature could have amended the salary statutes instead of enacting a separate statute specifically on subsistence allowance. In fact, the Legislature expressly states in W. VA. CODE § 20-7-1c that "any across-the-board pay increase granted [to DNR officers] by the Legislature or the Governor will be added to, and reflected in, the minimum salaries set forth in this section." Id. at (d). Thus, the Circuit Court's conclusion that subsistence allowance is part of a DNR officer's salary ignores this provision and is completely contrary to the clear language of this statute governing salary.

A 1977 West Virginia Attorney General Opinion recognizes the distinction between DNR officers' salaries and subsistence allowance. 57 W. Va. Op. Atty. Gen. 188 (1977). In the opinion, the Attorney General's office responds to a question posed by the

8

Director of DNR regarding whether funds appropriated in the State budget to upgrade DNR officers' salaries should instead be used by DNR to pay a subsistence allowance to DNR officers. The Attorney General's response explains that in 1976, the Legislature passed a bill providing for the payment of subsistence allowances "in addition to salary," and that the budget bill for the fiscal year included a line item appropriate for the same. The following fiscal year, however, the Legislature did not include a line item appropriation for subsistence allowance, but provided the same amount in DNR's "Account 830 for Personal Services for Conservation Officers," and in a letter from the chair of the House and Senate Finance Committees, directed the use of those funds to upgrade DNR officers' salaries. The Attorney General advised that through these actions, the Legislature demonstrated an intent not to pay subsistence allowance, but to give a salary increase instead. The very question posed by DNR and answer provided by the Attorney General confirm that subsistence allowance and salary are distinct from one another.

This Court's opinion in *Campbell v. Kelly* decided a similar issue and strongly supports that subsistence and expense allowances were never intended to constitute pensionable amounts in PERS. 157 W. Va. 453, 202 S.E.2d 369 (1974). In *Campbell v. Kelly*, the Court considered constitutional challenges to 1971 legislation governing the terms of State legislators' participation in PERS, including whether the legislation complied with the Citizens Legislative Compensation Commission's recommendation to permit legislators to participate on the same basis as other employees of the State. The Court observed that the Commission's recommendations in that regard were that "final average salary means their actual compensation in the form of salary and additional per diem compensation (*not including any expense allowance or reimbursement of expense*) .... " making clear that payments like a subsistence allowance were never intended to be pensionable in PERS. *Id.* at 470 (emphasis added).

In addition to this strong case law support for the Board's decision that subsistence is not pensionable compensation, as noted above the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") considers subsistence an expense reimbursement. Even so, the Circuit Court gives undue weight to the fact that DNR chose to include subsistence allowance in the officers' bimonthly paycheck. The PERS definition of compensation does not mention the timing of any payments or otherwise provide that if a payment is included in a member's paycheck then it is considered compensation. DNR's decision to include subsistence allowance in the bimonthly checks is simply a matter of administrative policy; it does not change the character, purpose and nature of the payments as a form of expense reimbursement.

÷

### B. Whether and how subsistence allowance is taxed or treated as wages under federal income tax laws is irrelevant to determining its treatment under PERS.

Subsistence allowance is not pensionable simply because it is subject to federal income tax withholding, as the Circuit Court seems to imply. In 1997, DNR learned that it had incorrectly been treating subsistence allowance as exempt from federal wage withholding for federal, Social Security and Medicare taxes. (J.A. at 58-61.) It was at that point that DNR began including subsistence allowance in contributions to PERS, though without notifying or requesting guidance from CPRB. Amounts subject to federal personal income tax and wage withholding are defined by the Internal Revenue Code very broadly, and there is effectively a presumption that all payments are included, unless the payment falls under a specific exception. Importantly, these amounts can include amounts PERS specifically excludes from consideration as "compensation." *See* Internal Revenue Code §§ 61 and 3401, Treas. Reg. § 1.61-2 and Treas. Reg. § 31.3401(a)-1. DNR's determination that subsistence allowance was subject to federal withholding had nothing to do with whether the amounts were pensionable in PERS; neither the

IRS nor DNR had authority to make that decision. Many payments expressly excluded by the definition of "compensation" in PERS are nonetheless subject to federal wage withholding or are even taxable. For example, the IRS considers lump sum payments based on unused leave as taxable income to an employee, even though lump sum payments are specifically excluded from the definition of "compensation" in PERS. Subsistence allowance is no different.

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