DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEA

NO. 20-0350

WEST VIRGINIA CONSOLIDATED PUBLIC RETIREMENT BOARD,

Respondent below/Petitioner,

OCT = 5 2020

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPPLEME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

v.

ROBERT CLARK, ET AL.,

Petitioners below/Respondents.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Lonnie C. Simmons (W.Va. I.D. No. 3406) **DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC**P.O. Box 1631

Charleston, West Virginia 25326
(304) 342-0133

lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Respondents Robert Clark, et al. (ACTIVE AND RETIRED DNR LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS)

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

III. Summary of argument

The trial court correctly exercised its authority under W.Va.Code §29A-5-4(1), to reverse Petitioner's final ruling because Petitioner's final ruling was contrary to the statutes at issue. Based upon a review of all of the related statutes, the trial court correctly concluded that the subsistence pay under W.Va.Code §20-7-1, meets the definition of "compensation" as defined in W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8). This conclusion is supported by an examination of all of the related statutes, where various lump sum and irregular payments specifically are excluded from being included in the calculation of compensation under PERS and because the Legislature has never excluded subsistence pay.

For services rendered, subsistence pay is provided on a regular bimonthly basis combined with the regular wages paid to Respondents, rather than being paid as a lump sum on an irregular basis. When a DNR officer is paid, either because the officer is working or is on paid leave of some kind, the severance pay is earned as well. When a DNR officer is not rendering any services and is not paid, such as when an officer is on an unpaid leave of absence, the severance pay is not provided. Thus, the statutory subsistence pay in this case easily is distinguishable from the types of irregular lump sum payments the Legislature specifically excluded from its definition of compensation.

Petitioner did not have any authority under W.Va.Code §5-10-44, the "error" correction statute, because the definition of "employer error" excludes "deliberate acts" by the employer. The undisputed record in this case fully supports the conclusion that the manner in which the DNR treated subsistence pay was very deliberate and considered as opposed to a thoughtless clerical error made in an instant. The two February, 1997 memoranda issued by the DNR to its officers shows the considerations and concerns the DNR considered in deciding how to process this subsistence pay. (JA 59-60). As the trial court noted, "These memos demonstrate the DNR thoughtfully considered

how to treat the subsistence pay and ultimately concluded such pay was a part of each employee's compensation. As a result, from 1996 until the Board's most recent action triggering this appeal, the DNR issued one check to its law enforcement officers, which included subsistence pay, the officers paid income taxes and other benefits based upon the total wages earned, including subsistence pay, and both the DNR and the employees made contributions into PERS based upon the total wages earned, including subsistence pay." (JA 630-31).

The decision by the DNR, as the employer, to include the statutorily mandated subsistence pay in the calculation of the total compensation paid to Respondents was not "an omission, misrepresentation or violation of" state law, but rather was a "deliberate act" made by the DNR. Therefore, Petitioner, which only has the authority provided to it by the Legislature, had no authority to correct any alleged "error" in this case because the DNR acted deliberately.

The trial court's discussion of *Booth v. Sims*, 193 W.Va. 323, 456 S.E.2d 167 (1994), and its progeny must be read in the context of the trial court's earlier rulings that subsistence pay must be included in compensation for PERS purposes and that the DNR committed a deliberate act in the way this pay was treated, and, therefore, Petitioner has no authority to "correct" anything. In light of these rulings, the attempt by Petitioner to reduce Respondents' pensions clearly implicates this Court's holdings in *Booth* and related cases.

This Court has a long history of being very protective of a public employee's right to his or her retirement benefits and has held public employees have a contractual and constitutional interest in their pension. As applied here, where the trial court already had determined that the DNR acted correctly in including subsistence pay in calculating its employees PERS compensation, any attempt to reduce the pensions of active and retired DNR officers, and to seek overpayments from the retired

officers, would violate their contractual and constitutional rights and would be prohibited by this Court's cases.

IV. Statement of oral argument and decision

Respondents respectfully submit the Court may benefit from either Rule 19 or 20 oral argument in this case to address any questions about the facts or the application of the law. Questions involving the retirement system can be somewhat dense, so having counsel for the parties attempt to clarify any of these matters could be helpful. Because the Court has never addressed the specific statutes at issue and all DNR officers will be impacted by this ruling, a decision authored by one of the Justices would be appropriate.

V. Argument

A. Subsistence pay is "compensation" under W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8)

Petitioner presents several different arguments challenging the trial court's conclusion that subsistence pay received by DNR officers, pursuant to W.Va.Code §20-7-1, is included in the definition of "compensation," as defined in W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8). First, Petitioner asserts the trial court failed to cite the provision of the West Virginia Administrative Procedures Act supporting the reversal of Petitioner's final order. While there is no requirement in our case law for a trial court to specifically state which provision in W.Va.Code §29A-5-4, is the basis for reversing the agency's decision, because this litigation focused on the application of statutes, the trial court had the authority to conduct its own *de novo* review of the statutes and to reverse Petitioner's final ruling under the initial subsection of W.Va.Code §29A-5-4, because Petitioner's ruling was "(1) In violation of ...statutory provisions." The suggestion by Petitioner that the trial court was required to apply a more deferential standard of review, as opposed to addressing the application of these statutes *de novo*, is incorrect.

Second, Petitioner claims the trial court erred in finding the subsistence pay met the definition of "compensation" as defined in W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8):

"Compensation" means the remuneration paid a member by a participating public employer for personal services rendered by the member to the participating public employer. In the event a member's remuneration is not all paid in money, his or her participating public employer shall fix the value of the portion of the remuneration which is not paid in money: Provided. That members hired in a position for the first time on or after July 1, 2014, who receive nonmonetary remuneration shall not have nonmonetary remuneration included in compensation for retirement purposes and nonmonetary remuneration may not be used in calculating a member's final average salary. Any lump sum or other payments paid to members that do not constitute regular salary or wage payments are not considered compensation for the purpose of withholding contributions for the system or for the purpose of calculating a member's final average salary. These payments include, but are not limited to, attendance or performance bonuses, one-time flat fee or lump sum payments, payments paid as a result of excess budget, or employee recognition payments. The board shall have final power to decide whether the payments shall be considered compensation for purposes of this article. (Emphasis added).

Petitioner asserts, as it does throughout its brief, that subsistence pay is expense reimbursement rather than wages paid for services rendered. The trial court rejected this argument by explaining:

The subsistence allowance paid to [Respondents] clearly falls within this broad definition of "compensation." As long as [Respondents] were paid their wages, whether they were working or on paid annual, sick, or military leave, they also were paid the subsistence allowance. When [Respondents] were not working or were not working due to any of these paid leave situations, they were not paid the subsistence allowance. If [Respondents] were paid the subsistence allowance regardless of whether they were working or otherwise receiving other wages, then an argument could be made the subsistence allowance was not compensation. However, because the subsistence allowance was paid only when [Respondents] were paid their wages, such payments fall within the definition of "compensation." (Emphasis added). (JA 582).

In reaching this conclusion, the trial court noted that subsistence pay did not fall within any of the payments made to employees that the Legislature specifically excluded from the definition of compensation. In W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8), the Legislature excluded the following from its definition of compensation: "Any lump sum or other payments paid to members that **do not constitute regular salary or wage payments** are not considered compensation for the purpose of withholding contributions for the system or for the purpose of calculating a member's final average salary. These payments include, but are not limited to, attendance or performance bonuses, one-time flat fee or lump sum payments, payments paid as a result of excess budget, or employee recognition payments." (Emphasis added).

For services rendered, subsistence pay is provided on a **regular** bimonthly basis combined with the regular wages paid to Respondents, rather than being paid as a lump sum on an irregular basis. When a DNR officer is paid, either because the officer is working or is on paid leave of some kind, the severance pay is earned as well. When a DNR officer is not rendering any services and is not paid, such as when an officer is on an unpaid leave of absence, the severance pay is not provided. Thus, the statutory subsistence pay in this case easily is distinguishable from the types of irregular lump sum payments the Legislature specifically excluded from its definition of compensation.

The trial court also observed that the Legislature never adopted any language excluding subsistence pay from the calculation of an employee's total compensation in PERS. While the Legislature has enacted several statutes listing payments made to employees that are excluded from compensation under PERS, the Legislature has never excluded subsistence pay. For example, under W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8), the Legislature specifically excluded nonmonetary remuneration from the calculation of an employee's pension: "*Provided*, That members hired in a position for the first time on or after July 1, 2014, who receive nonmonetary remuneration shall not have nonmonetary

remuneration included in compensation for retirement purposes and nonmonetary remuneration may not be used in calculating a member's final average salary." *See also* W.Va.Code §5-5-6(c)(3)("Any payment for unused sick leave may not be a part of final average salary computation."); W.Va.Code §5-10-22(a)("Provided, That the final average salary used in this calculation does not include any lump sum payment for unused, accrued leave of any kind or character. The credited service used for this calculation may not include any period of limited credited service."); W.Va.Code §5-5-3 ("however, lump sum payment for unused, accrued leave of any kind or character may not be a part of final average salary computation; and where any deduction of employee contribution may have been made previously, a refund of the amount deducted shall be granted the former employee and made by the head of the respective former employer spending unit.").

After noting the lack of any statute from the Legislature excluding subsistence pay from the calculation of PERS compensation, the trial court relied upon rules of statutory construction. When the Legislature identifies a general class followed by specific examples of that class, the doctrine known as *ejusdem generis*⁷ is applicable, as explained in Syllabus Point 2 of *Parkins v. Londeree*, 146 W.Va. 1051, 124 S.E.2d 471 (1962):

In the construction of statutes, where general words follow the enumeration of particular classes of persons or things, the general words, under the rule of construction known as *ejusdem generis*, will be construed as applicable only to persons or things of the same general nature or class as those enumerated, unless an intention to the contrary is clearly shown.

⁷Petitioner objected to the application of this doctrine because, according to Petitioner, the definition of compensation is clear and not subject to interpretation. Respondents respectfully submit that the five years the parties have spent litigating over the meaning of this word is some indication that the definition is not quite as clear as Petitioner asserts. While the specific definition of compensation may appear at first blush to be straightforward, the issue becomes more complicated because the entire statutory definition has to be considered, including the listed payments that are not to be included, as well as the many related statutes where the Legislature specifically excluded certain payments from the definition of compensation.

In Murray v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 203 W.Va. 477, 485, 509 S.E.2d 1, 9 (1998), this Court explained the application of the doctrine of ejusdem generis and the doctrine of noscitur a sociis:

Under the doctrine of *ejusdem generis*, "[w]here general words are used in a contract after specific terms, the general words will be limited in their meaning or restricted to things of like kind and nature with those specified." Syllabus Point 4, *Jones v. Island Creek Coal Co.*, 79 W.Va. 532, 91 S.E. 391 (1917). The phrase *noscitur a sociis* literally means "it is known from its associates," and the doctrine implies that the meaning of a general word is or may be known from the meaning of accompanying specific words. *See* Syllabus Point 4, *Wolfe v. Forbes*, 159 W.Va. 34, 217 S.E.2d 899 (1975). The doctrines are similar in nature, and their application holds that in an ambiguous phrase mixing general words with specific words, the general words are not construed broadly but are restricted to a sense analogous to the specific words.

The general class identified in W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8)—payments excluded from compensation—is followed by the specific list-- attendance or performance bonuses, one-time flat fee or lump sum payments, payments paid as a result of excess budget, or employee recognition payments. None of the specific irregular payments listed is even remotely similar to the regular bimonthly subsistence pay provided to Respondents. Therefore, under the *ejusdem generis* and *noscitur a sociis* rules of statutory construction, the subsistence pay at issue in this litigation is completely dissimilar from the specific payments identified and, therefore, must be included under the definition of compensation.⁸

⁸Petitioner cites various sources and cases in support of its arguments, but a review of them reveals they are not on point. Petitioner cites an Attorney General's opinion, 57 W.Va.Op.Atty.Gen. 188 (1977), in support of its arguments, but this opinion simply addresses the budgetary process and the constitutional restrictions on how certain line items can be funded. *Campbell v. Kelly*, 157 W.Va. 453, 202 S.E.2d 369 (1974), is cited by Petitioner, but the quote simply is from a resolution adopted by a group addressing legislative pensions, and does not address the statutory subsistence pay provided to Respondents. *State v. Koerner*, 550 F.2d 1362 (4th Cir. 1977), involves whether subsistence pay provided to State Troopers is taxable and, according to this decision, it is. Respondents have never argued the taxability of subsistence pay somehow is determinative of the

Petitioner relies upon the language in W.Va.Code §5-10-2(8), that it "shall have final power to decide whether the payments shall be considered compensation for purposes of this article." While Petitioner has the power to make a determination about whether or not payments should be considered compensation under PERS, that decision still is subject to judicial review. Otherwise, this litigation would have ended five years ago.

Petitioner made a similar argument in *West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board* v. *Wood*, 233 W.Va. 222, 228 n.9, 757 S.E.2d 752, 758 n.9 (2014), where Petitioner had the authority to determine when "military service credits" were earned and available:

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